FILED

SEP 2 4 2013

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By.....

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 301290

893518-9

KERRY A. CLARK, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

MIKE WALCH, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITON FOR REVIEW



William H. Williamson, WSBA 4304 Attorneys for Respondent Folkmans Columbia Center Tower – Suite 5500 P.O. Box 99821 Seattle, WA 98139-0821 (206) 292-0411

A. IDENTITY OF THE MOVING PARTY

Respondent Robert C. Folkman and Patricia W. Folkman, husband and wife ("Folkmans"), petition this court for review the Unpublished Decision filed on July 23, 2013 by the Court of Appeals, Division III, and Orders Denying Petitioner Folkmans' Motion for Reconsideration and Motion for Attorney Fees filed on August 27, 2013. This Petition for Discretionary Review is made pursuant to RAP 13.4.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Folkmans' Petition for Discretionary Review seeks review of the Unpublished Decision filed on July 23, 2013 by the Court of Appeals, Division III in Cause No. 30129-0-III ("Opinion"). A copy of the Opinion is attached in Appendix ("App.") A. Folkmans also seek review of Orders Denying Folkmans' Motion for Reconsideration and Motion for Attorney Fees filed on August 27, 2013 at App. B.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1. Did the Appellate Court err in its holding that the trial court erred in awarding Folkmans their attorney fees under RCW 8.24.030 in defending Walches' common law easement claims? (Stated differently, does RCW 8.24.030 require trial courts to first segregate attorney fees in defending

against common law easement claims joined with statutory easement claims and disallow an award of such fees?)

Issue No. 2. Did the Appellate Court err in its finding that Folkmans are not entitled to attorney fees on appeal even though they prevailed at trial and on appeal on the merits of all substantive common law and statutory easement claims?

Issue No. 3. Did the Appellate Court err in its finding that Folkmans and Clarks are not the substantially prevailing parties an entitled to any attorney fees on appeal unless they first prevail on remand and recover fees under CR 11 on the common law easement claims?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case of first impression in Washington State involving Washington State's private condemnation statute, RCW Ch. 8.24, that is similar to the Court's review granted in *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012).

On August 9, 2010 Walches filed an action in Kittitas County Superior

Court entitled "COMPLAINT TO ESTABLISH EASEMENT IMPLIED

FROM PRIOR USE AND/OR PRESCRIPTION; OR ALTERNATVELY

EASEMENT BY NECESSITY PURSUENT TO RCW 8.24.010 ET. SEQ."

App. F.

The trial court found that all three claims were interrelated and arose from a common core of facts and legal theories related to access routes allowing attorney fees to be awarded under RCW 8.24.030. App. C; CP 480-510. At the conclusion of a non-jury trial, Folkmans were awarded attorney fees and costs of \$43,885.25 in a final judgment for successfully defending Walches' three easement claims (prescriptive, implied, and by necessity). Of the \$43,885.25, \$12,402.00 and \$1,987.50 (totaling \$14,389.50) represented attorney fees that Folkmans incurred in successfully defending Walches' common law implied easement and prescriptive easement claims. CP 361. Co-Petitioners Clarks were awarded \$76,767.50 on the statutory easement claim. CP at 268, 306. The court also awarded fees in defending common law easement claims totaling \$45,155. CP at 268, 321-29.

After successfully defending Walches' appeal of statutory easement claims before Division III of the Court of Appeals, Folkmans moved for an award of \$37,987.28 for appellate attorney fees and costs, including statutory costs. In its Opinion at Page 11, the Appellate Court ruled that RCW 8.24.030 requires segregation of attorney fees for non-statutory easement claims. It ruled that the Petitioners' appeal fees were contingent upon the outcome of re-

manded hearings on attorney fees under CR 11 related to Walches' segregated common law easement claims. Opinion, Page 13; App. A. The court denied Folkmans' motion for reconsideration, including Folkmans' motion for appellate attorney fees, pending the outcome of remanded hearings under CR 11. App. B.

This Petition for Review is submitted to correct the Appellate Court's decision regarding the recovery of attorney fees on appeal under RCW 8.24.030. Both Folkmans and Clarks prevailed in the defense of jointly pled, tried, and argued common law easement claims brought by Walches along with statutory easement claims under RCW 8.24.010 that were based upon a common and inextricable set of core facts related to alternative access routes. This Court should reverse the Opinion and accept the trial court's decision by broadly construing RCW 8.24.030 to allow the condemnees (Folkmans and Clarks) to recover their attorney fees in "any action" under "reasonableness" standards.

The Appellate Court erred in concluding that Folkmans and Clarks were not the substantially prevailing parties where Folkmans and Clarks prevailed on every substantive claim filed by Walches before the trial court and Appellate Court, except the award of attorney fees. Regardless of the segregation of attorney fees under RCW 8.24.030, the Appellate Court' decision should be re-

versed. Folkmans and Clarks should be awarded their appellate attorney fees and costs in successfully defending Walches' appeal under RCW 8.20.030.

The court should not have applied the general rule of segregation of attorney fees in *Hume v. Am. Disposal*. *Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 656, 673, 880 P.2d 988 (1994) where a condemnor has consciously pled, argued, and tried multiple common law easement claims with RCW Ch. 8.24 easement claims based upon a common nexus of core facts. By ruling that the Petitioners' attorney fees in defending Walches' the common law easement claims can be segregated under these circumstances, the court has narrowly construed the relief accorded condemnees under RCW 8.24.030 that conflicts with the analysis of Division II in *Beckman v. Wilcox*, 96 Wn.App. 355, 365, 979 P.2d 890 (1999). The fact that attorney fees can be administratively segregated in cost bills does not *ipso facto* require mandatory segregation for purposes of RCW 8.24.030 fee awards.

The Appellate Court disregarded the trial court's Memorandum Decision Regarding Attorney Fees (App. D) entered as discretionary findings that segregation was not required where all three theories in Walches' complaint arose from the same set of common core facts for alternate access routes that were all interrelated and were required to be disproved in order to obtain access under RCW 8.24.010.

1. As Substantially Prevailing Party on Appeal Folkmans Were Entitled to Attorney Fees.

Folkmans incorporate, and do not repeat, the arguments and authorities cited by Clarks that the Appellate Court erred in not awarding appellate attorney fees as the substantially prevailing party on appeal against Walches' substantive claims related to statutory easement claims under RCW Ch. 8.24.

By affirming the trial court's decision on the merits of Walches' statutory easement claims; and common law easement claims (that Walches did not appeal), Folkmans and Clarks are prevailing parties on appeal under *Blair v*. *Washington State Univ.*, 108 Wn.2d 558, 571, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987). Yet, the Appellate Court erroneously concluded that: "At this point [respondents] have not substantially prevailed. While they have won on the merits of the private condemnation action, their attorney fee award has been reduced, at least temporarily. . . . If they do not prevail on the CR 11 claim, then no party will receive any fees for the appeal." *Id.* at 13.

It was error for the Appellate Court to not award attorney fees on appeal under RCW 8.24.030 and to make appellate attorney fees conditioned upon an award of attorney fees in a separate trial court hearing on common law claims under CR 11. The Appellate Court should have accepted the trial court's findings at CP 443 that Walches common law easement claims were pled, argued,

and tried together as a single action under RCW 8.24.030, citing *Beckman v. Wilcox*, 96 Wn.App. 355, 365, 979 P.2d 890 (1999). CP 443.

The Appellate Court's decision would end any trial court analysis of ever awarding fees on directly related and joined common law actions. It would add language not appearing on the face of RCW 8.24.030. This statute says "[i]n any action...reasonable attorneys' fees may be allowed." (Emphasis added). It does not state "in the action brought solely under RCW Ch. 8.24."

Allowing common law claims to be included within fee awards under RCW 8.24.030 under these circumstances would be consistent with *Noble v*. *Safe Harbor Trust*, 167 Wn.2d 11, 23, 216 P.3d 1007 (2009) holding that a trial court may consider whether a party's actions caused an increase in the cost of litigation. The trial court found that Walches "foisted" its common law claims upon the Petitioners forcing them to defend these incorporated claims. CP 443; App. D. Given that the Appellate Court also found at Page 11 of its Opinion that Walches caused Folkmans and Clarks to "fully contest the action at great expense to all," it should have applied *Noble's* rationale and not applied a narrow *per se* formula limiting attorney fees to statutory easement claims only.

2. Segregation of Fees Under RCW 8.24.030 Is Not Required.

Walches' based their case strategy upon complaint allegations over the

identical alleged routes of travel for all common law and statutory easement claims that it joined in a single action. CP 1-63; App. F. Walches' complaint at CP 1-11 and supporting exhibits at CP 56-63 affirmatively alleged a nexus of core facts that were common to all three easement theories for multiple access routes at ¶¶ V through XI. CP 5-10. The routes are thoroughly illustrated in Complaint exhibits H through K for all three claims at CP 57-63 at App. F.

In its Memorandum Decision Regarding Attorney Fees (Appendix D) at CP 443, that were incorporated as findings of fact and conclusions of law and final judgment order, the trial court carefully discussed and analyzed the basis for its award of fees under RCW 8.24.030 on all three easement claims.

[W]hile defendants have left no stone unturned in defending the claims foisted upon them by the plaintiffs, there was a common core set of facts as outlined above. . . . [T]he legislature intended broad application of RCW 8.24.030. Beckman v. Wilcox, 96 Wn. App. 355, 365 (1999). Here, the three theories in the plaintiffs' cause of action were all interrelated and all arose from the same set of facts. Plaintiffs needed to demonstrate that they had no other practical way of accessing their property. One way was to demonstrate they had no implied easement. A second way was to demonstrate they had no prescriptive rights to otherwise be established because the court had previously dismissed their claim.

CP at 443; (Emphasis added).

In making the above findings, the trial court adopted the condemnees' position:

Both defendants contend there is a common core of facts intertwining the implied easement and prescriptive easement claims for which they would otherwise not be entitled to attorney's fees with the easement by necessity claim for which they are entitled to attorney's fees. Specifically, the defendants argue the common nexus between the prescriptive easement, the implied easement, and the easement by necessity claims involve inherently related factual and legal issues and that as part of the easement by necessity claim, the plaintiffs had the burden of proving that no implied easement or prescriptive easement existed to otherwise allow them access to their property. In fact, the defendants claim the plaintiffs argued they had met the burden of not showing implied easement by demonstrating to the court there has never been a common grantor that would have allowed them to pursue the implied easement claim. Moreover, the defendants claim a common core of facts and related legal theories persists in relationship between the prescriptive easement and easement by necessity claims because both easement claims were over identical routes, which the plaintiffs claim to be 'existing roads' over and across defendants' properties, that the defendants' defenses included establishing the roads in question never existed or were not on their property and that had the plaintiffs established the alleged roads in fact existed such a fact would have enhanced the claim for easement by necessity and undermined the defendants' defenses.

CP at 441; (Emphasis added); *see also* the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at CP 450, 452-53; App. D.

Washington law holds that "[b]ecause it is the plaintiff who is charged with proving necessity, the burden of proof includes proof that no implied easement exists over grantor's property." *Roberts v. Smith*, 41 Wn.App. 861,

864,707 P.2d 143 (1985) (citing *Dreger v. Sullivan*, 46 Wn.2d 36, 40, 278 P.2d 647 (1955)). "Therefore, the trial court properly placed upon the Roberts the burden to prove there was no implied easement." *Id*.

Walches themselves acknowledged the common core of facts and related legal issues on their implied and statutory easement claims. CP at 133, 149, 225. In their Trial Memorandum, the Walches asserted a common core of facts and related issues for their common law easement and statutory easement claims. CP at 133, 149, 225. Walches also cited *Roberts* for the proposition that "the condemner's burden to prove reasonable necessity for ingress and egress includes the burden to disprove the existence of an implied easement of necessity where there is some credible evidence that such an easement exists."

Walches then argued that they "...met this burden by demonstrating to the Court that there has never been a common grantor which fact Clark and Folkman have stipulated is true." CP 225; App. E. Significantly, Walches refused to stipulate to a dismissal of their implied easement claim. Only after Folkmans and Clarks had incurred great costs in defending these claims and after Folkmans' and Clarks' had filed motions for summary judgment on implied easement and the prescriptive easement claims did Walches stipulate to the dismissal of the implied easement claims. CP at 777-785, 987. Walches

prescriptive use claims were dismissed on summary judgment after the trial court found "no evidence" of prescriptive use. CP 992.

Despite the trial court's dismissal of Walches' common law claims, and to bolster their statutory easement claim, Walches continued to assert at trial that historical access nevertheless existed over the same purported access routes. CP 314-15, 217, 230-31; RP (Vol. I) at 16-18, 29, 61-66. Under these circumstances, the Appellate Court should have applied *Beckman* and construed RCW 8.24.030's reasonableness provisions for the award of attorney fees to not require the segregation of attorney fees where the condemnor joined common law easement claims to prove his entitlement to a statutory easement by necessity.

E. ARGUMENT AND WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

In support of their Petition, Statement of the Case above, and argument below, the Folkmans incorporate by reference and do not repeat the factual history and arguments of Co-Petitioners Kerry A. Clark and Patricia L. Clark, and W.L. Clark Family, LLC filed with this court. The Unpublished Opinion and Orders denying reconsideration are in conflict with decisions with another Court of Appeals and Supreme Court; and represent an issue of substantial public interest related to the award of attorney fees under the private condemnation

statute, RCW 8.24.030.

1. The Decision Conflicts with Other Court of Appeals Decisions.

In its Memorandum Decision Regarding Attorney Fees at CP 443 at Appendix D, the trial court based the award of attorney fees for common law and easement claims upon the interpretation of RCW 8.24.030 "any action" and "reasonableness" standards discussed in *Beckman v. Wilcox*, 96 Wn.App. 355, 365 (1999). Judge Cooper concluded that a broad application of RCW 8.24.030 in awarding attorney fees for all three claims was warranted where: (1) all three theories and causes of action asserted by Plaintiff's case were "...all interrelated and all arose from the same set of facts;" and that Plaintiff needed to demonstrate that they had no other way of accessing their property by demonstrating that they had no prescriptive use or implied easement rights.

Walches argued to the trial court at CP 225 that disproving conjoined common law easement claims were necessary to perfect their entitlement to a statutory easement under RCW 8.24.010: "...the condemnor's burden to prove reasonable necessity for ingress and egress includes the burden to disprove the existence of an implied easement of necessity where there is some credible evidence that such an easement exists... Plaintiffs Walch have met this burden by

demonstrating to the Court that there has never been a common grantor which fact Clark and Folkman have stipulated is true." CP 225; App. E.

Notwithstanding Walches' arguments that common law claims were predicate causes of action that he was required to prove to show the absence of access by other legal means to support statutory easement claims, the Appellate Court nevertheless determined at Page 10 of its Opinion that the trial court could only award fees for prescriptive easement and implied easement claims following a remanded trial court hearing under CR 11.

The Court's decision requiring segregation of fees related to common law easement claims, was based entirely on *Hume v. American Disposal*, supra. *Hume* involved three claims of unpaid overtime, wrongful harassment, constructive discharge, and age discrimination. *Hume*, however, applied a general rule of fee segregation. It did not involve interrelated common law access and easement by necessity claims under the attorneys' fee provisions of RCW 8.24.030. Id at 674.

Importantly, the Appeals Court failed to distinguish the practical ability to segregate attorney fees for common law claims against Walches' actions to disprove such claims in order to qualify for relief under RCW Ch. 8.24. Applying *Hume* under these circumstances where Respondents prevailed against

Walch on all filed common law and statutory easement claims represents a conflict with the *Beckman v. Wilcox*, supra, of Division II. Fees were not awarded on the basis of a segregation analysis, but a reasonableness determination of whether the fees claimed "meets the conditions of the statute authorizing fees" that "allows attorney fees for any action." Id at 894; (underscoring added).

Beckman construed "action" broadly to mean "the lawsuit brought in a court." An examination of the record shows that at the very outset, Walches filed their action with combined and integrated common law claims of prescriptive use, implied easement, and statutory easement by necessity. CP 1-CP 63; App. F. Given the substantial statewide public policy interests to be fostered in the enactment of RCW 8.24.030, the Appellate Court's decision would emasculate Beckman's findings of legislative intent to broadly interpret and apply "any action" to include the defense of predicate common law claims in this case. Review should be granted and the Appellate Court's decision reversed under these first impression circumstances where: (1) Walches pled all three actions as conjoined causes of action in his detailed complaint at CP 1-63 (Appendix F); (2) Walches asserted in motions and arguments at trial that common law easement claims needed to disproved in order to qualify for relief under

RCW Ch. 8.24 (Appendix E); and (3) in the exercise of discretion1 applying the *Lodestar2* formula and *Beckman*, the trial court entered adjudicative findings of fact and conclusions of law that: (a) all three of Walches' causes of action were required to perfect statutory easement claims under RCW 8.24.010 by showing that Walches had no other practical way of accessing his property; and (b) there was a common core set of facts that were all interrelated and arose from the same set of facts. CP 443; App. D.

By ruling against Respondent Folkmans' and Clarks' Motions for Reconsideration and Motion for attorney fees on appeal, the Opinion is in further conflict with Division II *Shields v. Garrison*, 91 Wn.App. 381, 388-89, 957 P.2d 1266 (1998). The court held that in awarding fees under RCW 8.24.030 that trial court determinations would not be disturbed absent a showing that the trial court abused its discretion:

The awarding of attorney fees pursuant to a statute or contract is a matter of discretion with the trial court that will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. Fluke Capital & Management Servs. Co. v. Richmond, 106 Wn.2d 614, 625, 724 P.2d 356 (1986); (other citations omitted).

¹ Trial courts must exercise its discretion in light of the particular circumstances of each case. *Beckman*, supra at 897 citing *Schmidt v. Cornerstone Inv., Inc.*, 115 Wn.2d 148, 169, 795 P,2d 1143 (1990). "In a condemnation action, a trial court has discretion to grant an award for attorney fees in light of the circumstances in each case." *Kennedy v. Martin*, 115 Wn.App. 866, 872, 65 P.3d 866 (2003).

² Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co., 100 Wn.2d 581, 597-99, 675 P.2d 193 (1983).

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