RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 21, 2013, 4:33 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 89348-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KERRY A. CLARK, ET AL.,

Petitioners

ν.

MIKE WALCH, ET AL.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

> Chris A. Montgomery, WSBA #12377 Richard T. Cole, WSBA #5072 Attorneys for Respondents Montgomery Law Firm 344 East Birch Avenue PO Box 269 Colville, WA 99114 (509) 684-2519 FAX (509) 684-2188

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

ARGUMENT

I The Case Before the Court Does Not Present Grounds For Discretionary Review Pursuant to RAP 13.4.

This case is a property dispute decided on the specific, narrow facts. The Petitioners claim that the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in requiring them to segregate their statutory attorney fees under the private condemnation statute, RCW 8.24.030, from the attorney fees incurred in defending common law claims of prescriptive and implied easements. The Appellate Court applied the plain wording of the attorney fee provision of the private condemnation statute. There is no conflict with a decision of this Court, there is no conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals, no state or federal constitutional issue is presented, nor does the application of the attorney fee provision involve a matter of substantial public interest. The Legislature provided for attorney fees under the statute; the Court of Appeals applied the statute as clearly written.

Although Petitioners argue there is a conflict with another Court of Appeals decision, they only cite an unpublished decision, *Kahne Properties v. Brown*, 145 Wn. App. 1051(2008) in violation of RAP 10.4(h) and GR 14.1(a). This alleged conflict does not create an issue of substantial public interest, as both the decision below and the allegedly conflicting unpublished decision have no precedential value.

- II. The Appellate Court Properly Ruled, as a Matter of Law, That Petitioners Were Required To Segregate Their Attorney Fees Under RCW 8.24.030 From Attorney Fees For Common Law Claims For Prescriptive Easement And Implied Easement.
 - A. The Appellate Court Properly Applied RCW 8.24.030.

Interpretation of a statute is a question of law and is subject to de novo review. *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 5, 282 P.3d 1093 (2012).

Petitioners argue that the abuse of discretion standard should apply in this case, and that the Appellate Court abused its discretion in reversing the award of common law attorney fees. The cases cited by Petitioners, Kennedy v. Martin, 115 Wn. App. 866, 65 P.3d 866 (2003), Noble v. Safe Harbor Trust, 167 Wn.2d 11, 216 P.3d 1007 (2009) and Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek, supra, are distinguishable because they only involved statutory condemnation claims, not common law causes of action. The statute permits the award of attorney fees in the condemnation action, but does not require it. Noble, 167 Wn.2d at 17. An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is manifestly unreasonable, exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. The discretion of the court pertains to the reasonableness of an award of attorney fees under the statute, not whether attorney fees for non-statutory claims may be awarded. See Kennedy, 115 Wn. App. at 872. Interpretation of a statute is a question of law and is subject to de novo review.

Petitioners argue that the use of the term "any action" in RCW 8.24.030 intended a broad application of that statute, so that it could encompass awarding fees expended on common law claims not brought

pursuant to that statute. The full sentence using the term "any action" states as follows: "In any action *brought under the provisions of this chapter for the condemnation of land for a private way of necessity*, reasonable attorneys' fees and expert witness costs may be allowed by the court to reimburse the condemnee" (emphasis added). The plain meaning of this language is that it authorizes an award of fees only for any action brought under the private condemnation statute. Only by taking the phrase "any action" entirely out of context can it be read to embrace common law causes of action such as for an implied easement or a prescriptive easement. The award of non-statutory, common law attorney fees was based on untenable grounds, an error of law by the Trial Court. The Appellate Court properly reversed that decision.

B. The Appellate Court Properly Ruled That The Attorney Fees Should Be And Were Segregated.

This case, from its inception, was based upon separate and independent grounds for obtaining legal access to the Walch property. Two were based upon prescriptive use and implied easements. Only statutory attorney's fees of \$200.00 are available for those claims. The third was based upon the statutory easement by necessity pursuant to RCW 8.24.030, which *may* entitle the Petitioners to an award of

reasonable attorney's fees for such statutory claim. The Appellate Court found that it was not impractical to segregate the claims and that the Petitioners did in fact segregate their requests based on the independent theories (Opinion at 11). Petitioners argue that a common nexus and common core of facts and related legal issues precluded segregation, but their actions proved otherwise. Thus, the Appellate Court correctly reversed the award of common law attorney fees.

The elements of proof for the separate theories for obtaining legal access are distinctly different. Except for the parties themselves, there was no commonality of witness testimony, and absolutely no commonality of factual testimony. The attorneys for Petitioners presented to the Trial Court Declarations of fees that were attributable exclusively to the common law claims. At the same time, they failed to explain to the Court why, if there was such a common core of facts, they did not present one, single non-party witness used in support of the Summary Judgment Motions to dismiss the prescriptive easement claim to counter the private necessity claim. The answer is simple. There was no common core of facts.

The requirements to establish a prescriptive easement are proof of: (1) use adverse to the right of the servient owner; (2) open, notorious, continuous, and uninterrupted use for ten years; and (3) knowledge of such use at a time when the owner was able to assert and enforce his or her rights. Bradley v. American Smelting & Refining Co., 104 Wn.2d 677, 694, 709 P.2d 782 (1985); Anderson v. Secret Harbor Farms, Inc., 47 Wn.2d 490, 288 P.2d 252 (1955); Crescent Harbor Water Co. v. Lyseng, 51 Wn. App. 337, 753 P.2d 555 (1988).

By contrast, the only requirement for an easement by necessity pursuant to RCW 8.24.010 is reasonable need based on the policy that landlocked land may not be rendered useless and the landlocked landowner is entitled to the beneficial uses of the land. The landlocked owner is given the right to condemn a private way of necessity to allow ingress and egress only to land; the landowner is also given the right to select the route. The only requirement is that the owner demonstrate a reasonable need for the easement for the use and enjoyment of his property. *Hellberg v. Coffin Sheep Co.*, 66 Wn.2d 664, 666-67, 404 P.2d 770 (1965); *Kennedy v. Martin, supra*, 115 Wn. App. 866; *Wagle v. Williamson, 51 Wn. App. 312, 754 P.2d 684 (1988), appeal after remand, 61 Wn .App. 474, 810 P.2d 1372 (1991).*

Other cases in which the courts have addressed statutory attorney fees in the context of multiple claims are illustrative. In *Brand v. Dept. of Labor & Industry*, 139 Wn.2d 659, 989 P.2d 1111 (1999), the petitioner employee, whose workers' compensation claim culminated in a lawsuit over her disability level, sought review of the appellate court's order reducing and recalculating her attorney fees award, arguing that the award under RCW 51.52.130 should have been calculated without regard to her overall recovery on appeal, and should not have excluded fees for work done on unsuccessful claims. The court found that nothing in the language of RCW 51.52.130 suggested that an attorney fees award was dependent upon the worker's overall success on appeal. Thus, the court held that reducing attorney fees awards to account for a worker's limited success was inappropriate. Referring to *Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424 (1983), a case which it has followed, the Supreme Court of Washington said the following in *Brand*:

> We conclude that claims brought under the Industrial Insurance Act are different from the discrete, unrelated claims at issue in Hensley. Workers' compensation claims are statutorily based, and deal with one set of facts and related legal issues. The sole issue on appeal before the superior or appellate court in an Industrial Insurance Act case is whether or not the Board adequately assessed the worker's degree of injury. Alternative theories regarding the nature and extent of the worker's injury cannot be said to be unrelated, inseparable claims. An attorney's work on each theory is work "expended in pursuit of the ultimate result achieved.'461 U.S. at 435. Claims brought in the context of the Industrial Insurance Act are distinguishable from claims brought in the general civil context, which could, as in Hensley, be viewed as a series of discrete claims."

Brand v. Dept.of Labor & Industry, supra, 139 Wn.2d at 673, 989 P.2d at 1118.

The Appellate Court properly reversed the award of fees for time spent on separate common law theories from the time spent on the only statutory claim for which an award of attorneys fees is authorized, easement by necessity. To award the Petitioners all of the fees incurred for all claims asserted against them, is to grant them a windfall, merely because one of the theories authorizes a fee award, RCW 8.24.030. Unlike in *Brand*, the distinct theories asserted by the Respondents Walch were not all within a single statutory scheme; rather, only the easement by necessity claim is statutory. Also unlike in *Brand*, there was not a sole set of facts or single issue that spanned all of the Respondents' theories; the alternative theories involve different factual proof and legal elements.

The Trial Court erroneously found that a common core of facts and related legal issues existed between the prescriptive easement and the statutory easement by necessity claims, finding that both easement claims were over identical roads. The Appellate court determined this was clear error as the statute only allows attorney fees for condemnation claims. The Petitioners attorneys were able to segregate their fees, and in fact did so. The condemnor in a statutory easement by necessity action has the right to select the route which, according to his own views, is reasonably necessary for the full enjoyment of his land. *Wagle v. Williamson, supra.* The identity of location of the route for prescription and the route for necessity neither strengthens nor weakens either party's case. Petitioners are correct in stating that the statute does not per se mandate the segregation of fees. Nonetheless, the statute does expressly limit the cause of action for which fees may be recovered: "any action brought under the provisions of this chapter for the condemnation of land for a private way of necessity."

In *Ethridge v. Hwang*, 105 Wn.App. 447, 20 P.3d 958 (2001), cited and relied upon by the Petitioners, the circumstances are distinguishable. The plaintiff sued the defendant, alleging violations of the Mobile Home Landlord Tenant Act, RCW 59.20.010 et seq., the Consumer Protection Act, and tortious interference with contract. The central and pivotal fact, common to all of the claims, was that the defendant had unreasonably rejected potential purchasers of the plaintiff's mobile home. The plaintiff prevailed at trial, receiving money damages for interference with business expectancy, for pain and suffering, and for violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA). She was awarded attorney fees incurred in the prosecution of all of her theories of recovery, and that award was affirmed on appeal. The Court of Appeals reasoned that a trial court in calculating an award of attorney fees under RCW 19.86.090 of the Consumer Protection Act is not required to segregate the time expended by counsel on the Consumer Protection Act claim from the time expended by counsel on other claims, where the claims all relate to the same fact pattern but allege different bases for recovery. In *Ethridge*, because the plaintiff was entitled to all attorney's fees occurring after arbitration, and all attorney's fees incurred in connection with the MHLTA and CPA claims, the only work for which attorney's fees might not be awarded would be for work on the tortious interference claim prior to arbitration. The challenged fees were but a small part of the total fees in the case.

Only one of the claims by the Respondents is under a statute authorizing a fee award, and the Petitioners have sought to bootstrap an exorbitant fee recovery for time spent not only on the statutory claim, but also on the two additional and separate claims brought under the common law.

In *Ethridge* each claim involved the same central fact—the defendant's unreasonable rejection of prospective buyers at the park. Proof of the tortious interference claim involved the same preparation as the other claims--establishing that the defendant acted unreasonably. As the court put it, "because nearly every fact in this case related in some way to all three claims, segregation of the fee request was not necessary and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding fees as it did."

Ethridge v. Hwang, supra, 105 Wn.App. at 461. The facts necessary for each of the claims asserted by Respondents were not identical, so that segregation of the fee request was required. Except for the parties themselves, in this case there was no commonality of witness testimony among the separate claims asserted, and no commonality of factual testimony.

If an attorney fee recovery is authorized for only some of the claims (in this case, the statutory private condemnation claim), the attorney fee award must properly reflect a segregation of the time spent on issues for which attorney fees are authorized from time spent on other issues (in this case, the common law claims for an implied easement or a prescriptive easement). The attorneys must separate the time spent on those theories essential to the cause of action for which attorneys' fees are properly awarded and the time spent on legal theories relating to the other causes of action; this must include, on the record, a segregation of the time allowed for the separate legal theories . *Hume v. Am. Disposal Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 656, 880 P.2d 988 (1994).

In this case, the Clarks, Clark, LLC and Folkman attorneys have already separated their time according to the three (3) causes of action asserted against their clients. The three (3) theories asserted by the Respondents Walch obviously were not so intertwined factually or legally that this task could not be accomplished. The Clarks, Clark, LLC and Folkmans are entitled to *reasonable* fees attributable to their attorneys' time actually spent on the statutory easement by necessity claim under the attorney fee provision in RCW 8.24.030, but they are NOT entitled to the windfall of fees for the time devoted to the distinct common law claims brought by the Walches. The Appellate Court properly reversed the award of attorney fees.

C. The Award of Attorney Fees and Costs Was Excessive and Unjustified.

Washington courts use the Lodestar Method to calculate an award for reasonable attorney's fees. *Mayer v. City of Seattle*, 102 Wn. App. 66, 79, 10 P.3d 408 (2000) (citing *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 433, 957 P.2d 632 (1998)). The court applies the Lodestar Method by multiplying the total number of attorney hours spent on the action by the attorney's hourly compensation rate. *Mayer*, 102 Wn. App. at 79 (citing *Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 100 Wn.2d 581, 597, 675 P.2d 193 (1983)). Trial courts may not exclusively rely upon the billing records of the attorney seeking fees but must instead make an independent calculation of a reasonable amount of attorney fees. *Mayer*, 102 Wn. App. at 79 (citing *Nordstrom, Inc. v. Tampourlos*, 107 Wn.2d 735, 744, 733 P.2d 208 (1987)). "The reasonableness of attorney fees is a factual issue depending upon the circumstances of a given case, and the trial court has broad discretion in fixing attorney fees." *Sign-O.Lite Signs, Inc.*, 64 Wn. App. 553, 566, 825 P.2d 714 (1992) (citing *Schmidt v. Cornerstone Invs., Inc.,* 115 Wn.2d 148, 169, 795 P.2d 1143 (1990)).

When an attorney is authorized fees for only some of the Petitioner's claims, a trial court - and, hence the fee applicant - must make a reasonable attempt at segregating fees. *Hume v. American Disposal Co., supra,* 124 Wn.2d 656, 673. A court may not just accept at face value a fee applicant's claim for fees:

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